## **ARTICLE IN PRESS**

Engineering Science and Technology, an International Journal xxx (2016) xxx-xxx



Review

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Engineering Science and Technology, an International Journal

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jestch

# A review on quality factor enhanced on-chip microwave planar resonators

### Olebogeng Bone Kobe\*, Joseph Chuma, Rodrigo Jamisola Jr., Matthews Chose

Department of Electrical, Computer and Telecommunications Engineering, Botswana International University of Science and Technology, Palapye, Botswana

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 April 2016 Revised 23 September 2016 Accepted 30 September 2016 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Quality factor Microstrips SIW Planar Integration

#### ABSTRACT

This paper reviews microwave on-chip resonators with emphasis on quality-factor (*Q*-factor), and techniques enhancing *Q*-factor. The review discusses both planar microstrip and waveguide structures, with the integration of the latter emerging as a substitute for the bulky and expensive non-planar waveguides. Despite their huge *Q*-factor the conventional waveguide does not support integration and miniaturisation. While the microstrips support miniaturisation and mass fabrication at low-cost, they are limited by low *Q*-factor due to high conductor and substrate losses. A study of *Q*-factor enhancing techniques for on-chip devices is presented, with an introduction of integrated waveguide structures. In addition, a summary of transitions between on-chip planar microstrips and planar waveguides is presented. © 2016 Karabuk University. Publishing services by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

222

Contract, N

#### Contents

Introduction	00
1.1. Overview of microstrips	00
1.2. Overview of substrate integrated waveguide	00
1.3. Quality-factor	00
Microstrip analysis	00
2.1. Layout Optimisation	00
2.2. Patterned ground shield (PGS)	00
2.3. Differentially excitation	00
2.4. Negative resistance	00
SIW analysis	00
3.1. Losses and Q-factor of SIW	00
3.2. Enhanced Q-factor of SIWs	00
Hybrid integration	00
Effect of substrate material on resonator performance	00
Conclusion	00
References	00
	Introduction .         1.1. Overview of microstrips .         1.2. Overview of substrate integrated waveguide .         1.3. Quality-factor .         Microstrip analysis .         2.1. Layout Optimisation .         2.2. Patterned ground shield (PGS) .         2.3. Differentially excitation .         2.4. Negative resistance .         SIW analysis .         3.1. Losses and Q-factor of SIW .         3.2. Enhanced Q-factor of SIWs .         Hybrid integration .         Effect of substrate material on resonator performance .         Conclusion .         References .

#### 1. Introduction

The demand for portable and efficient wireless devices prompts the need for integrated circuits of high quality (*Q*-factor), for high

\* Corresponding author. E-mail address: olebogeng.kobe@studentmail.biust.ac.bw (O.B. Kobe). Peer review under responsibility of Karabuk University. level integration at high frequencies. These circuits include planar microstrip resonators [1] and planar integrated waveguide [2]. Despite the advantage of small circuit size and high integration density [3,4], planar resonators suffer huge transmission loss due to conductor and substrate losses [5,6]. However their application to microwave and millimetre-wave frequency is unavoidable, thus instigating research in loss reduction mechanisms to improve *Q*-factor and circuit performance. Consequently, various loss reduc-

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jestch.2016.09.024

2215-0986/© 2016 Karabuk University. Publishing services by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

tion [7] and Q-enhancement [8] methods were presented in previous works and some of those techniques are discussed in subsequent sections of this paper.

#### 1.1. Overview of microstrips

Integrated transmission lines (microstrips) are the most fundamental elements in the design of low-cost miniaturized microwave circuits [9] such as filters and antennas. For many years microstrip circuits were used for filtering application at lower frequencies in the radio frequency (RF) range. These circuits gained popularity with the advantage of low-cost, easy fabrication, planar nature and ability to integrate with solid-state devices. Even with the above mentioned advantages, the circuit experience excessive conductive and magnetically induced losses [10]. While radiation and dielectric losses are also significant, ohmic losses due to lossy substrate and metal traces are the two main contributors to the overall losses of the circuit. This leads to very low Q-factor for on-chip elements compared to their off-chip counterparts. Enormous advancement in research on the performance trends, modelling and design [11-14], optimisation and Q-factor enhancement methods of microstrip circuits and substantial results are reported [8,15–17] for various RF applications. Some of these techniques are introduce and discuss in Section 2 of this manuscript.

#### 1.2. Overview of substrate integrated waveguide

Substrate Integrated Waveguide (SIW) [18-21] technology emerged in the last two decades as an alternate design of resonant structures for microwave and millimetre-wave applications. These are substrate integrated circuits (SICs) [22] made-up of double rows of conducting slots immersed in a dielectric substrate that connects two plates on either side of the substrate. Like the microstrip structures, they are affected by conductor, radiation and dielectric losses [23] limiting their performance. Despite losses related to conductor and substrate materials, the SIWs possess the characteristics of a rectangular waveguide such as high Q-factor and low radiation loss with an extra advantage of reduced size by a factor of  $\varepsilon^{1/2}$  [24] to the original size. In addition, the unloaded Q-factor of SIWs is much greater than that of microstrip circuit [19], therefore these are fundamental components for high frequency ICs. Some SICs are a combination of SIW and a microstrip in what is normally as a hybrid integration [25]. The application of the SICs to high frequency devices provide an alternate solution to high performing circuits with complementary advantages of microstrips and waveguide circuits [26]. Several publications introduce and discuss these structures, and a summary is presented on Section 3 of this manuscript.

#### 1.3. Quality-factor

As a figure of merit, Q-factor determines the performance of any resonant structure. It is defined as the ratio of energy stored to the total energy lost per cycle for a sinusoidal excitation. Q-factor is described by (1) as in [27],

$$Q = 2\pi \frac{\text{Energy stored}}{(\text{energy lost per cycle})}$$
(1a)

$$=2\pi \frac{E_{mag,max} - E_{elec,max}}{P_{avg}}$$
(1b)

Where  $E_{mag,max}$  and  $E_{elec,max}$  are the maximum magnetic and electric energy respectively, and  $P_{avg}$  is the average power dissipated. Eqs. (1a) and (1b) show that Q-factor is highly dependent on the amount of energy lost per cycle. An increase in energy loss results in low Q-factor prompting the need for Q-enhancement mechanism. Despite several Q-enhancing techniques reported [2,9,25,28,29] it is difficult to achieve high Q-factor in planar structures. An investigation on the state-of-the-art progress in Qenhancement is discussed in this paper.

The paper is structured as follows: Section 1 – provides a general introduction to on-chip and substrate integrated resonators, Section 2 – analyses on-chip microstrip resonator and *Q*-enhancement methods, Section 3 – analyses substrate integrated waveguide with *Q*-factor consideration, Section 4 – reviews hybrid integration of conventional planar structures to non-planar structures on a single substrate, and Section 5 – reviews substrate material properties and effect on resonator performance.

#### 2. Microstrip analysis

In its simplest form, a microstrip resonator consists of two metal conductors separated by a dielectric substrate as illustrated in Fig. 1. The suspended metal trace on the substrate is a strip-line whereas the underneath metal plate is a ground plane.

Microstrip lines are used to develop inductors in various shapes as presented by Fig. 2. An inductor with least number of sides is square spiral [31,32], while the one with infinite number of sides



Fig. 1. Microstrip geometry a) side-view, b) top-view, and c) equivalent lump circuit [30].

O.B. Kobe et al./Engineering Science and Technology, an International Journal xxx (2016) xxx-xxx



Fig. 2. layout of spiral inductor a) square, b) octagonal, and c) circular [37].



Fig. 3. Equivalent of a terminal grounded inductor for modelling the Q-factor [40].

is a circular spiral [33–35]. The former has a high inductance value but low Q-factor due to current crowding effect [36] at the sharp corners, and the latter has a lower inductance value but higher Q-factor.

Shi et al. [8] reported an effective way of improving *Q*-factor on an on-chip spiral inductor. They focused on a circular spiral, the best possible layout structure in the family of planar spiral inductors. These spiral uses less chip area while making use of large chunks of metal conductors which reduces the series resistance [30]. Despite better Q-factor due to less series resistance, the spiral popularity is very low because it is difficult to layout compared to other shapes. This makes the square spiral the more popular because it is the easy to layout. Talwalkar et al. analysed and synthesised on-chip inductor and reported [38] several limitations on the inductors. They cited penetration of electric and magnetic field into the substrate as factors limiting the spiral performance. In addition, current redistribution in the microstrip and current redistribution due to adjacent conductors also diminish the spiral performance. While both the spiral and substrate parameters are important for modelling Q-factor, at low frequencies the substrate-loss factor  $(F_S)$  and the self-resonance factor  $(F_R)$  [39] are almost equal to unity. Therefore only the magnetic energy stored by the inductor is important for Q-factor evaluation. This implies the shunt branch in the circuit of Fig. 3 could be ignored for Q-factor formulation thus leading to (2).

$$Q = \frac{\omega L_s}{R_s} \tag{2}$$

where  $\omega$  is the angular frequency in rads,  $L_s$  is the series inductance and  $R_s$  is the series resistance of the inductor. An increase in frequency results in significant reduction in Q-factor due to  $F_s$  and  $F_R$ leading to (3) as in [39–41].

$$Q = \frac{\omega L_s}{R_s} \left[ \frac{R_p}{R_p + \left[ \left( \frac{\omega L_s}{R_s} \right)^2 + 1 \right] R_s} \right] \left[ 1 - \frac{R_s^2 (C_s + C_p)}{L_s} - \omega^2 L_s (C_s + C_p) \right]$$
(3)

where the middle term represents the  $F_S$  and the last term represents the  $F_R$  of the circuit. Symbols  $C_p$  and  $R_p$  are the coupling capacitance and coupling resistance respectively, and  $C_s$  is the series capacitance between the metal lines [40]. The limiting factor in microstrip *Q*-factor is  $R_s$  of metallisation. Other factors contributing to this limitations are conductive substrate losses normally from 1 to 10  $\Omega$ -cm. These are more common in the silicon based substrates because of the conductivity nature of silicon [42]. The main cause of substrate loss is the inductive coupling normally caused by the magnetic fields entering the substrate, inducing some eddy current [40,43–46]. These currents increase the substrate losses leading to reduced spiral performance and Q-factor, therefore several Q-factor enhancement techniques were introduced to compensate for the energy losses and Q-improvement. Some of these techniques are as follows.

#### 2.1. Layout Optimisation

The layout optimisation [47] technique optimises the width of the metal trace for each turn by varying the metal width of the spiral inductor. This method was introduced in the past two decades after Craninckx and Steyaert [48] discovered that the series resistance in a spiral inductor is caused by the arrangement of the inner turns, highlighting the small radius as the main contributor to the ohmic losses at high frequency. According to their study, the induction of electric field at the centre of the spiral generates eddy currents in the inner turns. Consequently, the generation of eddy currents results in non-uniformity of current distribution thus causing high series resistance in the inner turns. Lopez-Villegas et al. used this technique to design a square spiral inductor in a silicon-based multichip technology complemented with a silicon micromachining post-processing and managed to observe a Qfactor improvement of 60% at a frequency of 3.5 GHz [47]. Recently, Pei et al. applied the same technique on a square spiral with non-uniform strip width and non-uniform winding spacing obtaining an improvement of 42.86% [27]. It is clear that the physical structure and layout of microstrip inductor plays a very important role in Q-factor enhancement.

#### 2.2. Patterned ground shield (PGS)

Patterned ground shield (PGS) [39] is one of the various techniques discovered to enhance performance of on-chip spirals for silicon-based RFICs [8]. The technique shorts the electric field to the ground plane. It is patterned with slots orthogonal to the spiral inductor to eliminate the induced current loop by cutting off the current path [39]. These slots are significantly narrower to prevent the vertical electric field from entering the silicon substrate underneath. Pokharel and Liu in Ref. [49] proposed a low loss, high selective on-chip bandpass filter employing the improved open loop resonator with folded structure and the PGS. Similarly, Liao et al. in Ref. [8] demonstrated that a proper PGS can effectively compensate for the degradation of the Q-factor, thus improving the Qfactor of the inductor. The PGS technique effectively reduces the substrate coupling resistance [14]. Tao Zheng et al. used this technique and obtained a high Q-value on a low resistivity silicon wafer [50].

#### 2.3. Differentially excitation

Differential circuits [51] are commonly used to develop monolithic transceiver design due to their robustness and very high noise rejection properties [52]. While this topologies are used in ICs, they are practically used to excite spiral inductors by connecting the source directly to the two terminals of the spiral inductor [42]. The differential excitation method reduces eddy currents circulation by a significant 30–50% [52] and limit the electrically coupled currents from occurring in the substrate by 50% [51]. A three turn spiral inductor with an outer diameter of 220  $\mu$ m, spiral width of 16  $\mu$ m, and coil spacing of 2  $\mu$ m was fabricated in a 0.35  $\mu$ m single-poly, four metal CMOS process [30]. This design yielded a differential *Q*-factor of 3.1, 50% greater than *Q*-factor of the single-ended excitation at 2.5 GHz.

# ARTICLE IN PRESS

#### O.B. Kobe et al./Engineering Science and Technology, an International Journal xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

4

#### Table 1

Summary of Q-improvement techniques reported in literature.

Method	Original-Q	Final-Q	Improvement	Other References
Layout optimisation	17@1.5 GHz	40@3.5 GHz [47]	Over 60%	[11,17,58,59]
Differential excitation	6.6@1.6 GHz	9.3@2.5 GHz [52]	Over 50%	[30,42,51]
	3.84@3.1 GHZ	4./3@3./GHZ [60]	Over 20%	[43,53,54]
FG3	J.06@2.0 GHZ	0.70@2.0 GH2[39]	0ver 30%	[8,39,01]



Fig. 4. Geometry of a substrate integrated waveguide [76].

#### 2.4. Negative resistance

The negative resistance is a loss compensation mechanism that introduces a negative resistance of magnitude  $-R_s$  to reduce the dominant ohmic losses in the spiral traces. In this case, the negative resistor is placed in series with  $+R_s$  to cancel out or reduce the amount of losses caused by  $+R_s$  [43]. This approach was reported by [53–57], stating that the Q-factor is enhanced by using an active negative resistance placed in series to the lossy microstrip inductor. In addition [57], states that a tapped-inductor feedback techniques results in a higher Q-factor by producing a negative feedback. This compensates for the conductor losses related to Q-factor, thus improving the total Q-factor of the resonating structure (Table 1).

#### 3. SIW analysis

The introduction of SIWs in Refs. [18–24,62–74] presents the most promising resonant structures with high Q-factor, low-loss, mass-fabrication and integration on a single substrate. This technique allows for a waveguide size reduction with a factor of  $\varepsilon^{1/2}$  [75] to the conventional rectangular waveguide. Although they possess high-Q and low-loss over on-chip spirals, SIW structures are still large to integrate in front-end devices, hence more research on size reduction is still necessary. Fig. 4 illustrates a physical geometry of these structures with the metal vias representing the slots connecting the two metal plates on either side of the structure.

The rectangular characteristics realised by the metal vias represents the rectangular waveguide effective width ( $W_{eff}$ ) that exhibit modal propagation properties corresponding to the considered SIW. Most commonly, (4) and (5) proposed in Refs. [23,70,77] are used to calculate the effective width and length of the waveguide.

$$W_{eff} = W - \frac{d^2}{0.95s} \tag{4}$$

$$L_{eff} = L - \frac{d^2}{0.95s} \tag{5}$$

where d is the diameter of each via, W and L are the physical width and length of the waveguide while s is the centre to centre distance between two adjacent vias.

#### 3.1. Losses and Q-factor of SIW

SIW losses are divided into three main contributors, the conductor, dielectric and radiation losses. Conductor losses exhibited by these structures are due to the finite conductivity of metal layers and vias while dielectric losses are due to loss tangent of the dielectric substrate. In addition, radiation losses, usually very minimal are due to the gaps in the SIW structure along the walls [72]. Since these are very minimal, they could be ignored in the calculation of the total *Q*-factor ( $Q_T$ ) given by (6) as in Ref. [23].

$$\frac{1}{Q_T} = \frac{1}{Q_D} + \frac{1}{Q_C} \tag{6}$$

where.

$$Q_D = \frac{1}{\tan \delta} \tag{7}$$

$$Q_{c} = \frac{\lambda_{r}}{\delta}\beta \tag{8}$$

Symbol  $\beta$  represents a shape factor of the SIW for resonance in TE<sub>101</sub> mode defined by,

$$\beta = \frac{W_{eff}L_{eff}^{h}}{2} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{W_{eff}^{2}} + \frac{1}{h^{2}}\right)^{3/2}}{\frac{h}{W_{eff}^{2}}\left(W_{eff} + 2L_{eff} + \frac{W_{eff}}{h^{2}}(h + 2L_{eff})\right)}$$
(9)

where,  $W_{eff}$ ,  $L_{eff}$  and h are the width, length and height of the SIW respectively. The field distribution similarities of SIW and rectangular waveguide mean that the procedure for calculating conductor loss attenuation factor is the same. Therefore, the expression derived from the traditional rectangular waveguide is used to calculate the attenuation factor  $\alpha_c$  of the SIW, thus  $W_{eff}$  in (4) above is the equivalent width of a rectangular waveguide,

$$\alpha_{C}(f) = \frac{\sqrt{\pi f \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{R}}}{h \sqrt{\sigma_{C}}} \frac{1 + 2\left(\frac{f_{0}}{f}\right)^{2} h / w_{eff}}{\sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{f_{0}}{f}\right)^{2}}}$$
(10)

$$\alpha_{D}(f) = \frac{\pi f \sqrt{\varepsilon_{r}}}{c \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{f_{0}}{f}\right)^{2}}} \tan(\delta)$$
(11)

$$\alpha_{R} = \frac{\frac{1}{w} \left(\frac{d}{w}\right)^{2.84} \left(\frac{s}{d} - 1\right)^{6.28}}{4.85 \sqrt{\left(\frac{2w}{\lambda}\right)^{2} - 1}}.$$
(12)

Eq. (11) represents the attenuation factor due to conductor losses, where *h* is substrate thickness,  $\varepsilon_0$  is the dielectric permittivity of space,  $\varepsilon_R$  is the dielectric permittivity of substrate,  $f_o$  is the cut-off frequency of the SIW, *f* is the frequency of operation and  $\sigma_C$  is the conductivity of metal [78]. Eq. (12) represents the attenuation factor due to the dielectric losses, where *c* is the speed of

light. Attenuation due to radiation loss is represented by (13), where  $\lambda$  is the wavelength in the dielectric at a particular frequency of operation. From (11) to (13) the attenuation constant [78–80] of the SIW is calculated as,

$$\alpha_0 = \alpha_C + \alpha_D + \alpha_R,\tag{13}$$

#### 3.2. Enhanced Q-factor of SIWs

Traditionally, rectangular waveguide has very high *Q*-factor of over 10,000. However their integration to planar form presents some losses due to size reduction, and losses induced by the dielectric material. Despite these limitations, modification of geometrical parameters such as substrate thickness, via diameter and inter-via spacing minimizes the losses, and thus improve the quality factor of the SIW. As stated in Ref. [23], *Q*-factor of SIW is directly proportional to the substrate thickness, and a high-*Q* is achieved with a thicker substrate. Nonetheless, it is not comparable to the *Q*-factor of a rectangular waveguide at high frequencies, with the microstrip having the lowest of them all.

An enhanced total Q-factor of an SIW circuit requires improved individual Q-factors related to dielectric losses  $(Q_D)$  and conductor losses (Q<sub>C</sub>). A modified SIW (MSIW) in Ref. [68] uses an air-cut to reduce and increase the dielectric loss, and Q<sub>D</sub> respectively. However, the proposed structure suffers energy losses due to conductor losses leading to low  $Q_{\rm C}$ . This method was also applied in Ref. [7] with the central section of the SIW removed leaving an air-fill between the two rows of vias. Ghiotto et al. reported on an airfilled SIW in Refs. [80,81]. They demonstrated that the air-filled SIW outperforms a dielectric-filled SIW in transmission loss reduction and Q-factor improvement. Recently, Tong et al. proposed in Ref. [79] an SIW in a very thin glass substrate with Trough-Package-Vias (TPVs). The results showed a significant reduction in transmission losses making glass an ideal package substrate at very high frequencies. Despite not reporting on the Q-factor value, it was evident that glass reduces field strength on the substrate, and since Q-factor is highly dependent on the amount of electric and magnetic fields, the assumption is that, their design offered high-Q due to reduced field strength.

#### 4. Hybrid integration

Table 2

Hybrid integration [81–83] is a technique of microwave circuit integration, in which non-planar circuits are integrated with planar



Fig. 5. Microstrip to waveguide.

Properties of various substrate materials used for MIC design.

circuits on the same substrate. This technique combines the advantages of conventional microstrip and non-planar structures such as rectangular waveguide [82] to build a high performing SIC. The complementary advantages are merged within a combined fabrication platform, in which non-planar structures are synthesized and converted to planar form [3,22,25]. Several developments are reported in literature, in which transitions between planar structures and non-planar structure or vice versa were implemented. The most common transition in recent years is the transition of conventional planar structures to the non-planar structures [2,6,71,84,85]. Dominic Deslandes and Ke Wu [2] earlier developed a new planar platform combining the integration of microstrip line and rectangular waveguides on a single substrate using a tapered microstrip line. Accordingly, the 3D mounting structures are a required to design an integrated planar rectangular waveguide possessing high O-factor. The transition basically consist of a tapered microstrip line interconnected to microstrip and waveguide both of different widths as illustrated in Fig. 5 below [6].

Wang et al. designed two half-mode SIW filters in Ref. [84], both of which a microstrip-HMSIW transition was used. They realised a three pole and five pole filters with low insertion loss and good selectivity. Compared to the conventional SIW, their proposal showed more improvement in terms of size miniaturisation and space between the passband and spurious passband. Lately, Belenguer et al. developed a novel empty substrate integrated waveguide (ESIW) reported in Ref. [85]. Their proposal yield better performance with low-loss and improved-Q at a frequency ranging from 11 to 19.5 GHz.

#### 5. Effect of substrate material on resonator performance

Substrate material plays a vital role in the overall performance of an integrated circuit. The most important parameters to consider when designing a substrate integrated device are the substrate's resistivity and dielectric loss (Table 2). This is due to the fact that materials with high resistivity and low dielectric loss tend to enhance performance of resonant circuits [86]. The evolution of substrate technology started from as far as ceramic technology, followed by organic materials and most recently silicon. Lately, more interest in glass as a substrate for 2.5D/3D application [87-89]. Glass proved to provide better electrical performance compared to silicon. Despite it being an insulator, and edged by silicon in terms of conductivity, glass provides reliability performance as a result of possibility to adjust its thermal properties [87]. Glass substrate is reported in Refs. [88,90–94]. Several other materials such as low temperature co-fired ceramic (LTCC) are regarded suitable for various applications where metal with excellent conductivity such as gold and silver are used. LTCC have a lower dielectric constant as well as low insertion loss. This makes it an ideal substrate for RF and microwave application. Silicon substrate [39,41,86,95] is the most commonly used because of its excellent thermal conductivity. Trott and Shorey studied the mechanical properties of glass and silicon, and they reported that a thinned silicon substrate for integrated circuits has become a common process to meet the packaging form factor required by consumer applications [96]. Nonetheless, the thinned silicon substrate is difficult to handle,

Ref.	Material	Dielectric value	Loss tangent	Thermal conductivity
[97]	FR4	4.5	0.025	0.25-0.5 W/m-K
[97]	Duroid 6010.2 LM <sup>™</sup>	10.2	0.0023	0.860 W/m-K
[98]	Glass	4.5-5.5	0.02-0.03	0.2 W/m-K
[98]	HTCC	8.5-10	0.0005-0.0025	-25 W/m-K

# **ARTICLE IN PRESS**

O.B. Kobe et al./Engineering Science and Technology, an International Journal xxx (2016) xxx-xxx





thus requiring the use of a carrier substrate bonded temporarily as an aid to handling. The procedure for thinning the substrate is illustrated in Fig. 6.

#### 6. Conclusion

6

While SIWs offer high-Q at higher frequency, larger dimensions proves to be the limiting factor in production of miniaturised RF applications. With the demand for very small and portable RF gadgets, the popularity of spiral inductors continues to increases. The advantage of low-cost, easy fabrication and small size make them the most suitable components for most RF applications. Despite huge transmission losses, spiral inductors are widely used and their application has penetrated the millimetre wave band. Their application at very high millimetre-wave frequency grows with huge attraction from markets in the 60-GHz wireless local area network, and 77-GHz collision avoidance automotive radar [99]. It is therefore important to investigate more on these RF components, to improve the overall performance and Q-factor at higher frequencies.

#### References

- J.C. Rautio, V. Demir, Microstrip conductor loss models for electromagnetic analysis, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 51 (3) (2003) 915–921.
   D. Deslandes, K. Wu, Integrated microstrip and rectangular waveguide in
- planar form, IEEE Microw, Wirel. Components Lett. 11 (2) (2001) 68–70.
- [3] K. Wu, Substrate integrated circuits (SICs) for low-cost high-density integration of millimeter-wave wireless systems, 2008 IEEE Radio Wirel. Symp. RWS (2008) 683–686.
- [4] A. Doghri, T. Djerafi, K. Wu, Multi-dimensional substrate integrated waveguide for high density integration, Millimeter Waves (GSMM), 2015, pp. 3–5.
- [5] M. Bozzi, L. Perregrini, K. Wu, Modeling of conductor, dielectric, and radiation losses in substrate integrated waveguide by the boundary integral-resonant mode expansion method, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 56 (12) (2008) 3153–3161.
- [6] H. Kumar, R. Jadhav, S. Ranade, A review on substrate integrated waveguide and its microstrip interconnect, J. Electron. Commun. Eng. 3 (5) (2012) 36–40.
- [7] P. Mohammadi, S. Demir, Loss Reduction in Substrate Integrated Waveguide Structures, Prog. Electromagn. Res. C 46 (2013) (2014) 125–133.
- [8] J. Shi, W.Y. Yin, H. Liao, J.F. Mao, The enhancement of Q factor for patterned ground shield inductors at high temperatures, IEEE Trans. Magn. 42 (7) (2006) 1873–1875.
- [9] X. Chen, EM modeling of microstrip conductor losses including surface roughness effect, IEEE Microw. Wirel. Components Lett. 17 (2) (2007) 94–96.
- [10] A.M. Niknejad, R.G. Meyer, Analysis of eddy-current losses over conductive substrates with applications to monolithic inductors and transformers, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 49 (1) (2001) 166–176.
- [11] R.R. Manikandan, R. Vanukuru, V. Narayana, A. Chakravorty, B. Amrutur, Design and modeling of high-Q variable width and spacing, planar and 3-D stacked spiral inductors, in: 18th Int. Symp. VLSI Des. Test, 2014, pp. 1–6.
- [12] Z. Jian, Y. Yuanwei, Z. Yong, C. Chen, J. Shixing, A high-Q microwave MEMS resonator, Dans Symp. Des. Test, Integr. Packag. MEMS/MOEMS, 2007, p. 1–4.
- [13] S. Su, S. Wu, C. Lai, Y. Tai, W. Lin, S. Guan, Analysis and Modeling of IPD for Spiral Inductor on Glass Substrate, in: *ICMMT2008 Proceedings*, 2008.
- [14] J. Olivo, S. Carrara, G. De Micheli, Modeling of Printed Spiral Inductors for Remote Powering of Implantable Biosensors, 2011, pp. 29–32.
- [15] K. Kamogawa, K. Nishikawa, T. Tokumitsu, A novel high-q inductor based on Si 3D MMIC technology and its application, IEEE Radio Freq. Integr. Circuits Symp. (1999) 6–9.
- [16] J. Peters, Design of high quality factor spiral inductors in RF MCM-D by Master of Engineering in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, 2004.
- [17] R.R. Manikandan, V. Narayana, R. Vanukuru, A. Chakravorty, and B. Amrutur, A Parameterized Cell Design for High-Q, Variable Width and Spacing Spiral Inductors, in: IEEE International Microwave and RF Conference, 2014, pp. 312– 315.
- [18] G. Angiulli, D. De Carlo, S. Tringali, G. Amendola, E. Arnieri, Modelling SIW Resonators Using Support Vector Regression Machines, PIERS Proceedings, Cambridge, 2008, pp. 406–409.

- [19] Z. Chen, W. Hong, J. Chen, J. Zhou, Design of high-Q tunable SIW resonator and its application to low phase noise VCO, IEEE Microw. Wirel. Components Lett. 23 (1) (2013) 43–45.
- [20] Z.Q. Xu, Y. Shi, P. Wang, J.X. Liao, X.B. Wei, Substrate integrated waveguide (SIW) filter with hexagonal resonator, J. Electromagn. Waves Appl. 26 (11–12) (2012) 1521–1527.
- [21] S. Kumari, S. Srivastava, Losses in waveguide and substrate integrated waveguide (SIW) For Ku Band: a comparison, Int. J. Mod. Eng. Res. 3 (1) (2013) 53–57.
- [22] K. Wu, Y.J. Cheng, T. Djerafi, W. Hong, Substrate-integrated millimeter-wave and terahertz antenna technology, Proc. IEEE 100 (7) (2012) 2219–2232.
- [23] A.A. Khan, M.K. Mandal, S. Sanyal, Unloaded quality factor of a substrate integrated waveguide resonator and its variation with the substrate parameters, 2013 Int. Conf. Microw. Photonics, ICMAP 2013,no. 1, 2013, pp. 13–16.
- [24] Q. PinJie, Z. Yong, Y. Bo, A novel millimeter-wave substrate integrated waveguide (SIW) filter buried in LTCC, Proc. 2008 Asia Pacific Microw. Conf. APMC 2008, pp. 7–10, 2008.
- [25] D. Deslandes, K. Wu, Single-substrate integration technique of planar circuits and waveguide filters, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 51 (21) (2003) 593– 596.
- [26] K.W.K. Wu, D. Deslandes, Y. Cassivi, The substrate integrated circuits a new concept for high-frequency electronics and optoelectronics, 6th Int. Conf. Telecommun. Mod. Satell. Cable Broadcast. Serv. 2003. TELSIKS 2003, vol. 1, 2003, pp. 2–9.
- [27] S. Pei, Z. Wanrong, H. Lu, J. Dongyue, X. Hongyun, Improving the quality factor of an RF spiral inductor with non-uniform metal width and non-uniform coil spacing, J. Semicond. 32 (6) (2011) 1–5.
- [28] Y. Lee, J. Lim, C. Kim, A compact-size microstrip spiral resonator and its application to microwave oscillator, vol. 12, no. 10, 2002, pp. 375–377.
- [29] A. Eroglu, Microstrip inductor design and implementation, 26th Annu. Rev. Progr. Appl. Computat. Electromagnet. (2010) 858–861.
- [30] R.L. Bunch, D.I. Sanderson, S. Raman, Quality factor and inductance in differential IC implementations, IEEE Microwave Mag. 3 (2) (2002) 2–7.
- [31] A. Singh, A. Kaur, Synthesis of on-chip square spiral inductors for RFIC's using artificial neural network toolbox and particle swarm optimization, Adv. Electron. Electr. Eng. 3 (8) (2013) 933–940.
- [32] C. Pacurar, V. Topa, A. Racasan, C. Munteanu, C. Hebedean, and D. Rafiroiu, High Frequency Modeling of Square Spiral Inductor, in: International Conference and Exposition on Electrical and Power Engineering (EPE 2014), 16-18 October, Lasi, Romania, 2014, no. 10, pp. 622–626.
- [33] B. Mehta, M. Mehta, Design of circular shape spiral inductor for RF application, Int. J. Appl. Eng. Res. 7 (11) (2012) 8–12.
- [34] K.C. Chao, M.F. Ain, I.A. Zubir, Modeling and simulation using circular spiral antenna array, IOSR J. Electron. Commun. Eng. 9 (2) (2014) 19–22.
- [35] K.K. Samanta, I.D. Robertson, High performance compact multilayer circular spiral inductors in advanced photoimageable technology, IEEE Trans. Components, Packag. Manuf. Technol. 4 (12) (2014) 1981–1988.
- [36] J.-C. Guo, Analytical modeling of proximity and skin effects for millimeterwave inductors simulation and design in nano Si CMOS, 2014 IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. (2) (2014) 1–4.
- [37] A. Yen, Foundry Support Is Critical to SoC Design and Implementation, Issue Chip Des. Mag. 2007, [online], available: http://chipdesignmag.com/display. php?articleId=964, [accessed: 14-Apr-2016].
- php?articleld=964, [accessed: 14-Apr-2016].
  [38] N.A. Talwalkar, C.P. Yue, S.S. Wong, Analysis and synthesis of on-chip spiral inductors, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 52 (2) (2005) 176–182.
- [39] C. Patrick Yue, S.S. Wong, On-chip spiral inductors with patterned ground shields for Si-Based RF IC's, IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits 33 (5) (1998) 743–751.
- [40] J. Chen, J. Liou, On-chip spiral inductors for RF applications: an overview, J. Semicond. Technol. Sci. 4 (3) (2004) 149–167.
- [41] K. Benaissa, J.Y. Yang, D. Crenshaw, B. Williams, S. Sridhar, J. Ai, G. Boselli, S. Zhao, S. Tang, S. Ashburn, P. Madhani, T. Blythe, N. Mahalingam, H.S. Shichijo, RF CMOS on high-resistivity substrates for system-on-chip applications, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 50 (3) (2003) 567–576.
- [42] M. Danesh, J.R. Long, R.A. Hadaway, D.L. Harame, A, Q-factor enhancement technique for MMIC inductors, 1998 IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. (Cat. No.98CH36192), vol. 1, 1998, pp. 2–5.
- [43] T. Soorapanth, S. Wong, A 0-dB IL 2140 +/- 30 MHz bandpass filter utilizing Qenhanced spiral inductors in standard CMOS, IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits 37 (5) (2002) 579–586.
- [44] Y. Gao, S.Z. Zardareh, X. Yang, T.X. Nan, Z.Y. Zhou, M. Onabajo, M. Liu, A. Aronow, K. Mahalingam, B.M. Howe, G.J. Brown, N.X. Sun, Significantly enhanced inductance and quality factor of GHz integrated magnetic solenoid, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 61 (5) (2014) 1470–1476.
- [45] A. Naderi, M. Sawan, Y. Savaria, A 1-mW 2-GHz Q-enhanced LC bandpass filter for low-power RF applications, 3rd Int. IEEE Northeast Work. Circuits Syst. Conf. NEWCAS 2005, vol. 2005, 2005, pp. 365–368.
- [46] B. Georgescu, H. Pekau, J. Haslett, J. McRory, Tunable coupled inductor Qenhancement for parallel resonant LC tanks, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II Analog Digit. Signal Process. 50 (10) (2003) 705–713.
- [47] J.M. López-Villegas, J. Samitier, C. Cane, P. Losantos, J. Bausells, Improvement of the quality factor of RF integrated inductors by layout optimization, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 48 (1) (2000) 76–83.
- [48] J. Craninckx, M.S. Steyaert, A 1.8 GHz low phase-noise CMOS VCO using optimized hollow spiral inductors, IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits 32 (5) (1997) 736–744.

O.B. Kobe et al./Engineering Science and Technology, an International Journal xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

- [49] R. Pokharel, X. Liu, A high selectivity, low insertion loss 60GHz-band on-chip 4-pole band pass filter for millimeter wave CMOS SoC, 2011 Eur. Microw. Integr. Circuits Conf., no. October, 2011, pp. 660–663.
- [50] T. Zheng, M. Han, G. Xu, L. Luo, A novel wi-integrated low-insertion-loss filter with suspended high-Q spiral inductor and patterned ground shields, Prog. Electromagn. Res. C 59 (August) (2015) 41–49.
- [51] M.T. Reiha, T.-Y. Choi, J.-H. Jeon, S. Mohammadi, L.P.B. Katehi, High-Q differential inductors for RFIC design, Microw. Conf. 2003. 33rd Eur., 2003, pp. 127–130.
- [52] M. Danesh, J.R. Long, Differentially driven symmetric microstrip inductors, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 50 (1) (2002) 332–341.
- [53] U. Yodprasit, J. Ngarmnil, Q-enhancing technique for rf CMOS active inductor, 2000 IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits Syst. Geneva, Switz., no. 5, 2000, pp. 589–592.
- [54] C. Andriesei, L. Goras, On frequency and quality factor independent tuning possibilities for RF band-pass filters with simulated inductors, Rom. J. Inf. Sci. Technol. 11 (4) (2008) 367–382.
- [55] S. Bantas, Y. Koutsoyannopoulos, CMOS active-LC bandpass filters with coupled-inductor Q-Enhancement and center frequency tuning, IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. II Analog Digit. Signal Process. 51 (2) (2004) 69–76.
- [56] D. Beifort, N. Beilleau, H. Aboushady, M.M. Louërat, S. Catunda, A Q-enhanced LC bandpass filter using CAIRO+, 2009 16th IEEE Int. Conf. Electron. Circuits Syst. ICECS 2009 (3) (2009) 860–863.
- [57] S. Wang, R.X. Wang, A tunable bandpass filter using Q-enhanced and semipassive inductor at S-Band in 0.18um CMOS, Prog. Electromagn. Res. B, Vol. 28, 55-73, 2011, vol. 28, no. January, 2011, pp. 55-73.
- [58] F. Passos, M.H. Fino, R. Moreno, Elisenda, Analytical Characterization of Variable Width Integrated Spiral Inductors, in: International Conference Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and systems, 2013, pp. 586–591.
- [59] V. Narayana, R. Vanukuru, A. Chakravorty, High-Q characteristics of variable width inductors with reverse excitation, vol. 61, no. 9, 2014, pp. 3350–3354.
- [60] K.D. Pham, K. Okada, K. Masu, Quality factor enhancement of on-chip inductor by using negative impedance circuit, 2006, pp. 115–118.
- [61] J.N. Burghartz, B. Rejaei, On the design of RF spiral inductors on silicon, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 50 (3) (2003) 718–729.
- [62] X.-C. Zhang, Z.-Y. Yu, J. Xu, Novel band-pass substrate integrated waveguide (SIW) filter based on complementary slit ring resonators, Prog. Electromagn. Res. 72 (2007) 39–46.
- [63] S.W. Wong, K. Wang, Z.N. Chen, Q.X. Chu, Design of millimeter-wave bandpass filter using electric coupling of Substrate Integrated Waveguide (SIW), IEEE Microw. Wirel. Components Lett. 24 (1) (2014) 26–28.
- [64] X. Chen, W. Hong, T. Cui, Z. Hao, K. Wu, Symmetric dual-mode filter based on substrate integrated waveguide (SIW), Electr. Eng. 89 (1) (2006) 67–70.
- [65] B. Potelon, J.F. Favennec, C. Quendo, E. Rius, C. Person, J.C. Bohorquez, Design of a Substrate Integrated Waveguide (SIW) filter using a novel topology of coupling, IEEE Microw. Wirel. Components Lett. 18 (9) (2008) 596–598.
- [66] R. Li, X. Tang, F. Xiao, Design of substrate integrated waveguide transversal filter with high selectivity, IEEE Microw. Wirel. Components Lett. 20 (6) (2010) 328–330.
- [67] Q.-L. Zhang, W.Y. Yin, S. He, L.-S. Wu, Compact substrate integrated waveguide (SIW) bandpass filter with complementary split-ring resonator (CSRRs), IEEE Microw. Wirel. Components Lett. 20 (8) (2010) 426–428.
- [68] N. Ranjkesh, M. Shahabadi, Loss mechanisms in SIW and MSIW, Prog. Electromagn. Res. B 4 (2008) 299–309.
- [69] A. Patrovsky, M. Daigle, K. Wu, Millimeter-wave wideband transition from CPW to substrate integrated waveguide on electrically thick high-permittivity substrates, in: Proc. 37th Eur. Microw. Conf. EUMC, no. October, 2007, pp. 138– 141.
- [70] M. Bozzi, A. Georgiadis, K. Wu, Review of substrate-integrated waveguide circuits and antennas, IET Microwaves, Antennas Propag., vol. 5, no. 8, 2011, p. 909.
- [71] D. Zelenchuk, V. Fusco, Low insertion loss substrate integrated waveguide quasi-elliptic filters for V-band wireless personal area network applications, IET Microwaves, Antennas Propag. 5 (8) (2011) 921–927.
- [72] M. Bozzi, L. Perregrini, K. Wu, P. Arcioni, Current and future research trends in substrate integrated waveguide technology, Radioengineering 18 (2) (2009) 201–209.
- [73] G. Hu, C. Liu, L. Yan, K. Huang, W. Menzel, Novel dual mode substrate integrated waveguide band-pass filters, Electromagn. Waves Appl. 24 (July) (2010) 1661–1672.
- [74] V. Sekar, M. Armendariz, K. Entesari, A 1.2–1.6-GHz substrate-integratedwaveguide rf mems tunable filter, vol. 59, no. 4, 2011, pp. 866–876.
- [75] H.H. Lin, Novel folded resonators and filters, IEEE MTT-S Int. Microw. Symp. Dig. 00 (2007) 1277–1280.
- [76] F. Xu, K. Wu, Guided-wave and leakage characteristics of substrate integrated waveguide, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 53 (1) (2005) 66–73.
- [77] X. Chen, K. Wu, Substrate Integrated Waveguide Filter, IEEE Microwave Mag, no. August, 2014, pp. 108–116.

- [78] M. Bozzi, M. Pasian, L. Perregrini, and A. C. Loss, Modeling of Losses in Substrate Integrated Waveguide Components, in: Symposium (IWS), 2014, pp. 5–8.
- [79] J. Tong, V. Sundaram, A. Shorey, R. Tummala, Substrate-Integrated Waveguides in Glass Interposers with Through-Package-Via, in: Eletronic Components & Technology Conference, 2015, pp. 2222–2227.
- [80] F. Parment, A. Ghiotto, T.-P. Vuong, J.-M. Duchamp, K. Wu, Air-filled substrate integrated waveguide for low-loss and high power-handling millimeter-wave substrate integrated circuits, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 63 (4) (2015) 1228–1238.
- [81] A. Ghiotto, A. Doghri, F. Parment, T. Djerafi, T. Vuong, K. Wu, Threedimensional SIW and high-performance air – filled SIW for millimeter-wave substrate integrated circuits and systems, in: Millimetre waves (GSMM), 2015, pp. 3–5.
- [82] K. Wu, L. Han, Hybrid integration technology of planar circuits and nrd-guide for cost-effective microwave and millimeter-wave applications, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 45 (6) (1997) 946–954.
- [83] K. Wu, Integration and interconnect techniques of planar and non-planar structures for microwave and millimeter-wave circuits - current status and future trend, Proc. 2001 Asia Pacific Microw. Conf. APMC 2001, Taipei, Taiwan, R.O.C., pp. 411–416, 2001.
- [84] Y. Wang, W. Hong, Y. Dong, B. Liu, H.J. Tang, J. Chen, X. Yin, K. Wu, Half mode substrate integrated waveguide (HMSIW) bandpass filter, IEEE Microw. Wirel. Components Lett. 17 (4) (2007) 265–267.
- [85] A. Belenguer, H. Esteban, V.E. Boria, Novel Empty Substrate Integrated Waveguide for High-Performance Microwave Integrated Circuits, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 62 (4) (2014) 832–839.
- [86] T. Shim, J.P. Raskin, C.R. Neve, M. Rais-Zadeh, RF MEMS passives on highresistivity silicon substrates, IEEE Microw. Wirel. Components Lett. 23 (12) (2013) 632–634.
- [87] J. Keech, G. Piech, S. Pollard, S. Chaparala, A. Shorey, B.K. Wang, Glass interposer substrates : fabrication, characterization and modeling, in: Electronics Packaging Technology Conference, no. 88, 2013, pp. 706–709.
- [88] W. Shang, C. Pang, Z. Qin, D. Yu, D. Shangguan, Modeling, Simulation and Analysis of Coplanar Waveguide on Glass Substrate for 2.5D Integration, in: 2014 15th International Conference on Electronics Packaging Technology, 2014, pp. 564–567.
- [89] X. Gu, R. Rimolo-donadio, R. Budd, C.W. Baks, C. Jahnes, D.M. Kuchta, C.L. Schow, F. Libsch, High-Speed Signaling Performance of Multilevel Wiring on Glass Substrates for 2. 5-D Integrated Circuit and Optoelectronic Integration, in: Electronic Components & Technology Conference, 2013, pp. 846–851.
- [90] S. Hwangbo, A. Rahimi, C. Kim, H. Yang, Y. Yoon, Through Glass Via (TGV) Disc Loaded Monopole Antennas for Millimeter-wave Wireless Interposer Communication, in: Eletronic Components & Technology Conference, 2015, pp. 999–1004.
- [91] S. Cho, Y. Joshi, V. Sundaram, Y. Sato, R. Tummala, Comparison of Thermal Performance between Glass and Silicon Interposers, Electronic Components Technol. Conf., 2013, pp. 1480–1487.
- [92] V. Sukumaran, T. Bandyopadhyay, Q. Chen, N. Kumbhat, F. Liu, R. Pucha, Y. Sato, Design, fabrication and characterization of low-cost glass interposers with fine-pitch through-package-vias, Electronic Components and Technology Conference 2011 (2011) 583–588.
- [93] V. Sukumaran, Q. Chen, F. Liu, N. Kumbhat, T. Bandyopadhyay, H. Chan, S. Min, C. Nopper, V. Sundaram, R. Tummala, Through-Package-Via Formation and Metallization of Glass Interposers, in Electronic Components & Technology Conference, 2010, pp. 557–563.
- [94] V. Sridharan, S. Min, V. Sundaram, V. Sukumaran, S. Hwang, H. Chan, F. Liu, C. Nopper, R. Tummala, Design and Fabrication of Bandpass Filters in Glass Interposer with Through-Package-Vias (TPV), in: 2010 Proceedings 60th Electronic Components and Technology Conference (ECTC), 2010, pp. 530–535.
- [95] K. Ben Ali, C.R. Neve, Y. Shim, M. Rais-Zadeh, J.-P. Raskin, Non-linear characteristics of passive elements on trap-rich high-resistivity Si substrates, Silicon Monolith. Integr. Circuits Rf Syst. (SiRF), 2014 IEEE 14th Top. Meet., 2014, pp. 4–6.
- [96] G.R. Trott, A. Shorey, Glass wafer mechanical properties: A comparison to silicon, 2011 6th Int. Microsystems, Packag. Assem. Circuits Technol. Conf., no. Lcd, 2011, pp. 359–362.
- [97] A. Daliri, A. Galehdar, W.S.T. Rowe, S. John, C.H. Wang, K. Ghorbani, Quality factor effect on the wireless range of microstrip patch antenna strain sensors, Sensors (Switzerland) 14 (1) (2014) 595–605.
- [98] X. Mi, S. Ueda, Integrated Passives for High-Frequency Applications, in: V. Zhurbenko (Ed.), Advanced Microwave Circuits and Systems, InTech, 2003, pp. 249–291.
- [99] T.O. Dickson, M.A. LaCroix, S. Boret, D. Gloria, R. Beerkens, S.P. Voinigescu, 30-100-GHz inductors and transformers for millimeter-wave (Bi)CMOS integrated circuits, IEEE Trans. Microw. Theory Tech. 53 (1) (2005) 123–132.